
Mrs J Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700

Date: 16 November 2018

MEETING OF COMMUNITY & RESOURCES
On: Monday 26 November 2018 At: 10.00 am

Venue: Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS

NOTICE OF MEETING

To: Councillor D Hurley (Chair)
Councillor A Dart (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: D Brenton, K Davis, P Hackett, R Hicks, J Himan, S Inch, R Lock, 
D McGeough, J Whittaker and R Wiseman

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)

1.  Apologies for Absence 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.  Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 15 October 
2018 (Pages 3 - 10)

3.  Action List (Page 11)

4.  Public Contributions 
Public contributions in accordance with the current scheme

5.  Forward Plan (Page 12)

6.  Declarations of Interest 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.



- 2 -

7.  Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II 

8.  Urgent Matters of information to be brought forward with the permission of the 
Chair and the Committee 

9.  Litter and Fly tipping Enforcement (Pages 13 - 15)
To receive the Report of the Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager

10.  Adoption of a Corporate Enforcement Policy (Pages 16 - 30)
To receive the Report of the Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager

11.  Annual Parking Review (Pages 31 - 38)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

12.  Northern Devon Tourism Strategy (Pages 39 - 54)
To receive the Report of the Planning and Economy Manager

13.  Transforming Torridge Programme 
To receive a verbal update from the Head of Paid Service and Leader (standing item)

14.  Exclusion of the Public 
The Chair to move:

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I and paragraph 10 
of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

15.  PART II (CLOSED SESSION) 

16.  Non-Recoverable Debts (Pages 55 - 59)
To receive the report of the Customer Support Manager

Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES MEETING

Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS

Monday, 15 October 2018 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT Councillor D Hurley (Chair)
Councillors D Brenton, K Davis, P Hackett, J Himan, S Inch, 
R Lock, D McGeough, R Wiseman, R Julian and J Morrish 
(substitute for J Whittaker)

ALSO PRESENT J Wallace - Head of Paid Service
S Hearse - Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Dorey - Solicitor
S Hearse - Strategic Manager (Resources)
D Heyes - Finance Manager
S Kearney - Planning & Economy Manager
J Wallace - Head of Paid Service
S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer
M Richards - Democratic Services Officer
A Redwood - Property and Procurement Manager
S Chappell - Conservation Officer
H Roper - Service Improvement Officer
C Fuller - Economic Development Officer

Councillors:  A Inch, A Eastman, N Laws, P Christie and 
                     C Cottle-Hunkin

Approximately 46 members of the public

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

45.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Dart, J Whittaker and R 
Hicks.

46.   MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 28 AUGUST 2018 

It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor Himan                   
and -

Resolved:   That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 August 2018 be signed as a 
correct record.

(Vote:  For 6, Abstentions 5) 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2

47.   ACTION LIST 

Minute 39 – Gypsy & Travellers

Councillor Brenton advised he had attended a Gypsy and Traveller Workshop 
which had been arranged by the Devon Association for Local Councils.  At that 
meeting Councillor Brenton raised the issue of the laybys on the A39 link road 
being made available for G&T sites. It had been indicated to him that there was a 
possibility these could become  available for potential G&T sites.  He was keen for 
this matter to be pursued.

The Action List was noted.

48.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

Mrs Ruth Craigie (Bideford Town Councillor) addressed the Committee regarding 
the BMX Track, telling Members that the park had originally been built with public 
money for use by the people of Bideford. It had been enjoyed as such for many 
years.  However, a fence and gates had now been erected around the track, with 
approval from TDC’s Plans Committee, and Mrs Craigie asked why the facility had 
been taken away from the people of Bideford; why the Council still put money into 
the club and when did the consultations with the Town Council and the residents 
take place.  The presence of the fence and gates had turned this public facility into 
a privately held sports club, with about 80 members only,  as opposed to the 
thousands of children previously.  Mrs Craigie added that she was not against the 
club, but felt the facility should be made available to the public.

Rog Flavell, Secretary of the BMX Club, thanked TDC for its support in helping the 
club move forward.  Membership had increased and the club was recognised as 
one of the biggest and best facilities in the South West, with people coming from 
across Devon.  The club was governed by a constitution and committee and had 
achieved Rider Accreditation.  With reference to public access, the constitution did 
not permit discrimination to prevent access to the club and residents of East-The-
Water were entitled to free membership.   Mr Flavell spoke about regional events, 
opening hours, and sessions offered, which included free beginner sessions.  The 
club inspired young people and adults to be fit and healthy.

Torrington Calf Street Play area - An update on the fundraising activities was given 
by Danielle, Kim and Sarah.  They appealed to Members to further consider 
supporting their worthwhile project and their goal to have a safe and enjoyable 
place for children to play.

The final speaker, Denise Plat, recounted her years of involvement with the club, 
adding that many East-The-Water children had benefitted from the track.  She 
supported the BMX club and was in favour of the gates and fencing.  

49.   FORWARD PLAN 

The Forward Plan was noted.  

Page 4



3

50.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Declarations of interest were made when the specific agenda items to which they 
related were under discussion.

51.   AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II 

There were no Part II items.

52.   URGENT MATTERS OF INFORMATION TO BE BROUGHT FORWARD WITH 
THE PERMISSION OF THE CHAIR AND THE COMMITTEE 

There were no urgent matters brought forward.

53.   NOTICE OF MOTION - CLLR COTTLE-HUNKIN 

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Cottle-Hunkin

When presenting the Notice of Motion, Councillor Cottle-Hunkin updated the 
Committee on the monies raised so far.   This had been realised from various 
resources including successful Grant applications, S106 monies, New Homes 
Bonus, Councillor Grants, Devon County Council, local businesses, charitable 
Trusts and fundraising by local residents.  The total raised to date was £27,442.06.

The Strategic Manager (Resources) explained that should the Motion be approved 
the Project Initiation Document (PiD) would be submitted with all other PiD’s for 
2019-2020 budget.  The Finance Team look at the monies available for the Capital 
Programme and Members then consider all PiDs to determine if affordable.  It 
would be brought to this Committee in early February, scrutinised by Internal 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee and then presented to Full Council at the end of 
February when the budget is approved by Members.

The Planning and Economy Manager addressed the meeting and explained that at 
the last meeting of External Overview & Scrutiny Committee it had been resolved 
that a working group be set up to formulate a Play Strategy.  

Members acknowledged the hard work Councillor Cottle-Hunkin had undertaken.

It was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by Councillor McGeough and -

Resolved:

That Torridge recognises the need to invest in Calf Street Play Area and supports 
the preparation of a Project Initiation Document for consideration in the Capital 
Programme.

(Vote:  For – Unanimous)

Page 5



4

54.   WESTWARD HO! PARK - NOTICE OF MOTION 

Written Notice of Motion by Councillors Brenton & Christie

“That TDC do not sell any part of the Westward Ho! Park area”.

Prior to the presentation of this item, Councillor Brenton proposed that the Notice of 
Motion be deferred to allow Northam Town Council to produce a Business Plan.

Councillor Himan declared a personal interest – dual hatted – Northam Town 
Council.

Councillor Himan gave a brief summary on the reasons as to why a Business Plan 
had not, as yet,  been produced by Northam Town Council.  He explained the 
original Business Plan had been just a “wish list” and a more comprehensive plan 
was now being prepared.  He stated that in light of the above Notice of Motion he 
could not support this, as it would preclude Northam Town Council from a 
Community Right to Bid or to purchase Westward Ho! Park in the future.

Councillor Christie left the meeting at 7pm.

Councillor Hurley clarified that if the Notice of Motion was not deferred, the matter 
would be debated.

Following a brief discussion it was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by 
Councillor Julian that the Notice of Motion be deferred.

(Vote:  For 5, Against 6)

The motion was lost.

The debate that followed included:

 The park to be leased to Northam Town Council, if it cannot be sold
 The accounts of Northam Town Council
 The reasons for the delay in the preparation of a Business Plan by Northam 

Town Council
 Future proposals for the Cricket Club at Westward Ho!  The Head of Paid 

Service confirmed that it had never been the intention of the Authority to 
develop on the cricket pitch.

 The Constitution did not allow for an amendment to be made to the Notice of 
Motion.

Councillors Laws and Eastman addressed the meeting speaking in favour of 
keeping Westward Ho! park.

It was proposed by Councillor Morrish, seconded by Councillor Hackett that the 
Notice of Motion be rejected.

Page 6



5

Resolved:

That the Notice of Motion from Councillor Christie and Councillor Brenton that 
Torridge does not sell any part of the Westward Ho! Park area be rejected.

(Vote:  For 3, Against 7, Abstentions 1)

55.   BMX TRACK - POLLYFIELD 

The Property and Procurement Manager presented the report, which he stated was 
in response to a request from the Plans Committee to provide background 
information to a retrospective planning application regarding the security fencing to 
the BMX facility at Pollyfield, East the Water.

Councillor Lock enquired as too whether Plans Committee members sitting on this 
Committee should declare a prejudicial interest.    The Solicitor advised that this 
would not be necessary as the report was an update on one of the Council’s land 
holdings and was for noting only.

Councillor Morrish referred to comments made by a speaker and sought 
clarification from the Property and Procurement Manager.   It was confirmed that 
the BMX Club do pay rent to the Council, discussions had not been held with the 
Pollyfield Trustees as it is a separate Lease and the BMX Club itself had initiated a 
lot of the works.

Councillor Brenton strongly opposed the erection of the fence and maintained the 
facility should be used by everyone. 

Members noted the report.

56.   TORRIDGE BUSINESS INVESTMENT SCHEME 

Councillor Brenton declared a personal interest as a member of Bideford Bridge 
Trust.

The Economic Development Officer presented the report, the purpose of which was 
to present options for a business investment scheme to support sole-trader 
businesses to become employers.   This report will lay out options for members to 
debate in order to maximise the potential impact of the scheme.

The PowerPoint presentation given at the meeting can be viewed by clicking on the 
link here

When discussing the Scheme the following points were raised:

 The need for the Scheme to be monitored
 To ensure Officers give as much help to applicants as possible to ensure all 

applicants are given the same opportunities
 As part of the process Officers would look at the accounts of the applicants

Page 7

https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/documents/s9656/Torridge%20Bus.%20Investment%20Scheme.pdf


6

 Publicising the Scheme – discussions had already taken place with the 
Federation of Small Businesses.  Other methods suggested included social 
media and traditional routes

 The Scheme should be open to limited companies as opposed to just Sole 
Traders

 The maximum amount of the grant be limited to £5,000
 The Leader, the Deputy Leader and the Lead for Economy be involved in the 

assessment process

The Economic Development Officer confirmed that all these matters would be 
considered for incorporation into the draft policy.

The Head of Paid Service explained her role within North Devon+ and the 
restructure that had taken place.

Members acknowledged this was a good scheme and had a lot of potential.

It was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by Councillor Julian and -

Resolved:

That the Direct Grants Scheme as detailed in Appendix A attached to the report be 
adopted.

(Vote:  For – Unanimous)

57.   S215 NOTICES 

A joint presentation was given by the Economic development Officer and 
Conservation Officer.   The purpose of the report was:

1. To propose a strategic rationale for the application of section 215 Notices to 
support both economic development and the protection of listed buildings.

2. To explore the risks and implications of using Section 215 Notices for 
unoccupied listed buildings which have fallen into disrepair.

The PowerPoint presentation given at the meeting can be viewed by clicking on the 
link here

When discussing this item, Councillor Hurley raised a concern that the report did 
not include rural areas and would like to see the Scheme expanded to include rural 
Wards and villages.

Reference was made to the Neighbourhood Plans and how this would tie in with 
the proposed S215 policy.  The Planning and Economy Manager agreed to look 
into this and respond in due course.

Page 8

https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/documents/s9669/S215%20Notices.pdf


7

The Planning and Economy Manager advised that although this Scheme would not 
solve all issues, it gave Officers the power to use at their discretion. 

It was agreed that an amendment be made to the recommendations to include rural 
Wards and villages.

It was proposed by Councillor McGeough, seconded by Councillor Lock and -

Resolved:

 That the S215 Policy, to include rural Wards and villages, be adopted

 That the existing Section 215 Notices Reserve of £110,000 be used to 
create Conservation and Economic Development SECTION 215 Reserve of 
£10,609, the balance of £100,000 to be retained to fund costs of 
action/repairs be agreed.

 That an annual top up of Conservation and Economic Development 
SECTION 215 Reserve of £10,000 per year (from the Policy and 
Contingency Reserve) be agreed.  Not required in the first year financial year 
of the Section 215 programme.

(Vote:  For 10, Abstentions 1)

58.   FINANCIAL CHALLENGES UPDATE REPORT 

Councillor Brenton left the meeting at 8.50pm

The purpose of the report presented by the Finance Manager was for Members to 
consider the Financial Challenges faced by Torridge Council for the period of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 – 2022/23 and to consider 
remedial actions to bring the Council’s finances back into balance over the life of 
the MTFS. 

The PowerPoint presentation given at the meeting can be viewed by clicking on the 
link here

Questions were asked and responded to during the presentation.

Following a comment made by Councillor Julian, the Head of Paid Service advised 
that when preparing the budget there are always a lot of uncertainties, but these 
are confirmed at the beginning of each new year.  She emphasised the need for 
savings to be made.

It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Hackett and -

Page 9

https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/documents/s9670/Financial%20Challenges%20Update.pdf


8

Resolved:

That the revenue and capital challenges faced by the Council be noted, and 
consideration to be given to the remedial action required to bring the budgets back 
into balance over the medium term.

(Vote:  For 6, Against 1, Abstentions 3)

59.   TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME 

The Head of Paid Service gave a verbal update on the current position with regard 
to the works being undertaken at Riverbank House.

Significant progress had been made over the last few weeks.   The first floor is now 
almost finished.   

The new Customer Hub is not quite ready but looking to move the teams in situ by 
mid November.   As mentioned to the Chair, Councillor S Inch, Officers are looking 
to have a low key opening of the hub for public and staff on 20 November.    

Members acknowledged the great work undertaken by the Property and 
Procurement Manager.

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 9.27 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 10



ACTION LIST

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 15 October 2018

Minute 
No.

Action By Who Date 
Contacted

Completed

2. Action List 

Dragons Den project work 
ongoing

S Kearney Email 5.6.18 Work ongoing - report to be brought to a future 
C&R meeting

28.8.18 meeting - Economic Dev. Officer 
preparing draft Report.

15.10.18 - Report presented to Committee.

39.

47.

Gypsy & Travellers

Final report – information 
relevant to TDC sites to be 
emailed to Members

15.10.18 – At a meeting 
attended by Cllr Brenton it had 
been indicated that the laybys 
on the A39 could become 
available for G&T site.   This to 
be pursued.

S Toon

S Toon/S Kearney

4.9.18

17.10.18

Responses / comments from the team need to be 
agreed and sent back to the consultants before 
the report is finalised.  This has been delayed 
due to the need for work to be done on the Local 
Plan.

57. S215 Notices

15.10.18 – Neighbourhood 
Plans and how this would tie in 
with S215 Notices. SK to 
review.

S Kearney 17.10.18

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 3



COMMUNITY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN – 2018/2019

Leadership 15 May 2018
2pm 

26 June 2018
2pm

14 August 2018
2pm 

25 Sept 2018
2pm 

13 Nov. 2018
2pm 

8 January 2019
2pm 

12 February 2019
2pm 

9 April 2019
3pm 

Community 
& Resources

(Mondays)

4 June 2018
10am 

16 July 2018
6.30pm

TUESDAY
28 August 2018

10am

15 October 2018
6.30pm 

26 November 2018
10am

14 January 2019
6.30pm 

4 March 2019
10am

TUESDAY
23 April 2019

10am

Finance Draft Outturn Report 
(DH)

Performance QBR Q1
(Any 

recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q2
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q3
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

Other Bradworthy 
Community Transfer 

(AW)

Bone Hill Northam 
Community Transfer 

(AW)

Use of Blo Karts on 
Westward Ho! 

beach for 2018 (SK)

Devon Wide 
Housing Assistance 

Policy (under the 
RRO) (Janet 

Williams)

Gypsy & Traveller 
Site (ST)

Hotel site at 
Westward Ho! (JH)

Private Sector 
Housing 

Enforcement Policy 
(Janet W)

Housing of Asylum 
Seekers (ST) 

Demolition of Cattle 
Market Buildings 

(SH) 

Debt recovery 
presentation by Council 

Tax Team Leader 

G&T Update (ST)

Part II
Non recoverable debts 

(ST)

Torridge Business 
Investment Scheme

(SK)

BMX Track – fencing 
issues (Plans meeting 

Aug 18) (AR)

Capital Programme & 
PiDs (SH)

S215 Notices (C 
Fuller)

Notice of Motion  (Cllr 
Cottle-Hunkin) 

(Torrington Play Area) 
(SK)

Notice of Motion 
Westward Ho! Park 
(Cllr PC & DB) (SK)

Annual Parking Review 
to include displaying 

machines (SK)

Littering and fly tipping 
(Janet W)

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy (Janet W)

Northern Devon 
Tourism Strategy (SK)

PART II
Non recoverable debts 

(ST)

Polling Place Review 
(JW)

Westward Ho! Park 
Petition (referred from 

FC on 1.10.18)

Westward Ho! Park –
Notice of Motion – Cllr 

Laws (SK)

Car Parking Review 
(rec. from meeting) 

(SK)

Proposed alteration to 
Covenant - Hotel Site 
Westward Ho (AW)

Sole Traders Business 
Investment Scheme

(SK)

4 March 2019

4 February 2019
Budget SpecialP

age 12

A
genda Item

 5



REPORT OF Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Litter and Fly tipping Enforcement 
Date: 15th October 2018 Reference:CEP2

PURPOSE OF REPORT: For committee to consider increasing the fixed penalty levels for 
littering and fly tipping offences. 

1. INTRODUCTION

1. The maximum level of fine which a local authority is permitted to set for fixed penalty 
notices (FPN’s) for littering has been increased. The top level of fine has gone from 
£80 to a maximum of £150. The increase in permitted penalty levels has come into 
force at the same time as changes to the responsibilities around littering from 
vehicles. The new fine rate will be applicable to this offence also.

2. In November 2016 Committee approved the setting of the FPN for fly tipping at £300, 
within the given range of penalty level of £150 to £400. It is proposed that this be 
increased to the maximum penalty of £400, to be proportionate to the revised littering 
penalty and in line with the penalty set elsewhere in Devon and Cornwall.

3. Fixed penalty notices for littering and fly tipping offences are issued by TDC 
Enforcement Team only, we do not employ external agents for enforcement work of 
this type.

2. REPORT

1. Litter offences fine increase - The relevant offence is under section 87 
Environmental Protection Act, 1990. Under section 88, we can issue a FPN as a 
disposal option. Section97(a) of the EPA, 1990 allows regulations to be made which 
limit the size of the penalty. We can choose the penalty from within the prescribed 
range or use the given default rate. The previous regulations set the range from £50 
(min) to £80 (max) with a default of £75. Newly introduced regulations, the 
Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (England) Regulations 2017 which took 
effect on 1 April, 2018 increase the range to between £50 and £150. The option 
under section 88(7) for us to allow for payment of a lesser sum for prompt payment 
is unchanged. In order to encourage offenders to pay the fine, and reduce the 
expensive and time consuming process of taking offenders to court for non payment, 
we can offer a reduction for early payment – it is recommended that this is set at 
£100 for payment within 10 days. The maximum penalty on conviction for a littering 
offence is £2500.

2. Litter from vehicles - The Littering From Vehicles Outside London (Keepers: Civil 
Penalties) Regulations 2018 (SI 2018 No.171) has now been introduced. This 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



creates a civil (not criminal) FPN regime where the keeper of the vehicle is held 
responsible for the offence and this is enforced through the civil court instead of the 
Magistrates Court. This deals with the difficulties experienced up to now where we 
have evidence that litter has been dropped from a vehicle but we don’t know the 
identity of the person responsible, (there is no legal provision requiring, say, an 
employer to tell us who was in the vehicle at the time of the offence). As littering from 
vehicles is now a civil penalty, there is no route to convict for the offence.

3. The regulations expressly provides for the use of evidence from a camera, where the 
camera can provide a record that a vehicle is on land in our district and give the date 
and time. The FPN has to be given within 35 days of the littering offence. With the 
prevalence of dash cams we intend to publicise this provision and purchase units for 
our enforcement officer vehicles, from the proceeds of any fixed penalty income.

4. To summarise the proposals:

Current FPN  level Proposed FPN level
Littering £75/ £50 if paid within 10 days £150/ £100 if paid within 10 days
Littering from 
vehicles

                    N/A
              

£150 fine to be paid in 28 days 
reduced to £100 if paid within 14 days

Fly tipping £300/ £180 if paid within 10 
days

£400/ £250 if paid within 10 days

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The changes reflect the robustness with which Regulatory Services tackles waste offences 
and should act as a deterrent to offenders.

Financial Implications

All income from fixed penalties is used to support our enforcement functions.

Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None 

Equality/Diversity

Enforcement activity will always be in line with all requirements of equality legislation and 
standards.

Page 14



Risk Management

None
Compliance with Policies and Strategies

All enforcement activities will be in accordance with our Corporate Enforcement Policy.

3. CONCLUSIONS

The Government has given us the opportunity to Increase the fixed penalty notice levels as 
a method of highlighting littering and fly tipping issues and sending out a clear message 
that these activities will not be tolerated by the local authority in our communities. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the fixed penalty for littering and fly tipping, along with the discounts for early payment, 
as given in this report, are approved.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Members Consulted: Cllr James

Contact Officer: Janet Williams
Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

Page 15



REPORT OF Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Adoption of a Corporate Enforcement Policy 
Date: 15th October 2018 Reference:CEP1

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To seek approval to commence consultation on a Corporate 
Enforcement Policy which is intended to provide a framework for the way that the Council 
undertakes its regulatory functions.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Regulators Code came into statutory effect on the 6th April 2014 under the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, replacing the Regulators’ Compliance Code. It 
provides a clear, flexible and principles based framework for how regulators should engage 
with those they regulate. 

1.2 Nearly all non-economic regulators, including local authorities and fire and rescue 
authorities, must have regard to it when developing policies and procedures that guide their 
regulatory activities.  

1.3 The Code sets out the Government’s expectation that local authorities ensure that 
their approach to their regulatory activities are transparent, consistent and proportionate.

1.4 Enforcement functions are carried out by a number of Departments within the 
authority. The Corporate Enforcement Policy is an overarching policy for enforcement 
functions of the Council. Under this there are more detailed policies which cover specific 
functions in more detail, where required. 

1.5  All function specific policies will need to meet the overall aims and objectives of the 
Corporate Enforcement Policy.

1.6 The policy has been developed using the BRDO’s Regulators’ Code Local Authority 
Toolkit. All internal Departments with an enforcement function have been consulted on 
them, as has our Legal Department. External consultation (as recommended by the Code) 
will be by publishing this and all service specific enforcement policies on our website and 
seeking feedback.
 
1.7  Functions that this policy covers includes environmental health, food safety, health 
and safety, licensing, planning, building control, antisocial behaviour, waste enforcement 
(carried out by both regulatory services and the waste team), the harbour and parking 
enforcement.

1.8 A copy of the proposed policy is given in appendix 1 to this report.

Page 16

Agenda Item 10



2. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The policy will support the enforcement activities of a number of functions within the 
authority.

Financial Implications

Not applicable

Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None 

Equality/Diversity

Enforcement activity will always be in line with all requirements of equality legislation and 
standards.

Risk Management

Adherence to the Police will reduce risk of challenge of enforcement decisions and ensure 
fairness and consistency of all enforcement activity carried out by TDC.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Not applicable.

3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 A Corporate Enforcement Policy will form the basis of a consistent and transparent 
approach to regulation across a range of regulatory functions TDC carries out and provides 
a solid common reference point from which other more service specific policies can be 
developed as necessary. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval is given to begin public consultation on a Corporate Enforcement Policy for 
TDC.

Page 17



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Members Consulted: Cllr James

Contact Officer: Janet Williams/ Staci Dorey
Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk
Staci.dorey@torridge.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

Page 18

mailto:Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk
mailto:Staci.dorey@torridge.gov.uk


Torridge District Council
Corporate Enforcement Policy

October 2018

Page 19



Page 2

Contents: 

1. Introduction
2. What is this policy for?
3. When does this policy apply?
4. Our approach to dealing with non-compliance
5. Conduct of investigations
6. Decisions on enforcement action
7. Review of this policy
8. Comments and complaints

Appendix A Legislation, guidance and codes that influenced the preparation of 
the policy

1. Introduction
Torridge District Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy provides guidance to officers, 
businesses, consumers and the general public on the range of options that are available 
to achieve compliance with the legislation it enforces. We believe that effective and well-
targeted enforcement is essential in promoting fairness and protection from harm. We 
recognise that effective and timely guidance and advice on compliance supports and 
enables economic growth for businesses and improves public health and environmental 
outcomes.

This Enforcement Policy is the core of our approach to enforcement and supports all of 
this Authority’s strategic plan goals:

Developing a Prosperous & Sustainable Economy
Stronger, Safer, Healthier Communities
Protecting and Enhancing our Quality Environment
An Effective and Customer Focused Council

It incorporates best practice and sets common principles that we will follow and how we 
will comply with good enforcement principles and best practice including the Regulators’ 
Code. This seeks to promote an efficient and effective approach to regulatory inspection 
and enforcement, improving the outcome of regulation without imposing unnecessary 
burdens on businesses. Details of the legislation and guidance taken into consideration in 
preparing this policy are given as Appendix A.

The prime consideration of all enforcement activities undertaken by the Council is 
to protect the public from harm. Torridge District Council recognises the key role 
its enforcement function has in safeguarding, and will carry this out at all times 
with adherence to national and regional safeguarding policy.

We will publicise this corporate policy and invite comment on feedback on it and make 
revisions as necessary. The policy will be reviewed anyway from time to time and any 
revisions will be published.

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


Page 3

2. What is this policy for?
This policy outlines our approach to dealing with non-compliance with legislative 
requirements of businesses and individuals affected by our activities. It also informs 
enforcement officers of the local authority of standards and expectations of them. 

Authorised officers will act in accordance with this policy by being properly trained and 
qualified, by having knowledge of this policy and through management and oversight of 
their activities.

3. When does this policy apply?
This Corporate Enforcement Policy is an overarching policy for enforcement functions of 
the Council. Enforcement activities will include any action carried out in the exercise of 
statutory powers and duties. This is not limited to formal enforcement action such as 
prosecution or the issuing of Notices. It also includes the inspection of premises for the 
purpose of checking compliance with regulation or conditions and the investigation of 
complaints.

Under this there are more detailed policies which cover specific functions in more detail. 

All function specific policies will meet the overall aims and objectives of the Corporate 
Policy. Any new function specific policies that include any enforcement function shall be 
developed having regard to the Corporate Enforcement Policy.

The list of service specific policies or strategies is given below. These should be read in 
conjunction with this policy.

Policy Version/Date
Local Enforcement Plan (planning) Undated
Tree Protection Strategy Undated
Gambling Act Statement of Principles January 2013
Empty Homes Strategy December 2015
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy July 2018
Contaminated Land Strategy April 2013
Licensing Enforcement Policy January 2015
Sexual Establishment Licensing Policy September 2014
Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy February 2017

Where no service specific enforcement policy is in place and enforcement action is 
taken, the Corporate Enforcement Policy will apply.

A departure from this policy must only be in exceptional circumstances and capable of 
justification. Any departure will first be considered by the Operational Manager or Senior 
Manager for that function or unless a delay in making such a decision will result in serious 
risk of personal injury, risk to public health or impact effective running of the service. All 
such decisions will be recorded in compliance with the Openness of Local Government 
Bodies Regulations 2014.

Page 21

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15995&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17250&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=10812&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=10254&p=0
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18698&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=355&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/article/14445/Enforcement-and-Regulation
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/article/14404/Licensing-Policy-for-Sex-Establishments
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/article/14409/Licensing-Policy-for-Taxis-and-Private-Hire-Vehicles--more-information


Page 4

1. Our approach to dealing with non-compliance
Our approach will aim to: 

 Challenge and educate the behaviour of the offender
 Eliminate any damage, risk or harm caused as a result of any offences
 Eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance
 Be responsive and appropriate for the particular offender and regulatory issue, 

including the punishment and public stigma associated with a criminal conviction
 Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused
 Where possible, restore the harm caused by non-compliance
 Seek to deter future non-compliance.

We welcome businesses or regulated individuals to approach us where they believe they are 
non-compliant and we will offer advice as to how they can reach this standard. Where an 
approach of this nature is made, provided a willingness to comply is demonstrated, we are 
unlikely to take direct enforcement action but instead cooperate to ensure compliance is 
achieved. Where matters are progressed through these informal means, these will be 
monitored to completion. When compliance is reached this will be communicated and 
confirmed with the business or individual concerned. 

There is an expectation that our staff will clearly explain to relevant persons non-compliance 
and the reason for, and status (whether formal or informal), of any advice being given, 
actions being required or decisions taken. There will be an opportunity for dialogue in relation 
to this. This commitment does not extend to situations that require immediate enforcement 
action to prevent or respond to a serious breach or where providing such an opportunity 
would be likely to defeat the purpose of the proposed enforcement action.

We will aim to communicate with businesses and individuals in a way that is effective and 
convenient to them, whether this is verbally, in writing or by electronic means. Where we 
have not done so, we will confirm all information, guidance, decisions and reasoning in 
writing on request. 

The Council delegates the powers it has to investigate and enforce various pieces of 
legislation so that individual enforcement officers who, with the appropriate levels of 
competence, and where required qualification, have specific authority to act.  This is set out 
in the Councils Constitution (found here). Investigating Officers are responsible for day to day 
management of investigations in accordance with all policies and procedures relevant to their 
function. Enforcement teams are overseen by suitably qualified and experienced team 
leaders and managers.  

Enforcement Officers carry identification and confirmation of their authorisation.

We will refer matters to other authorities or enforcement bodies where we believe they are 
the most appropriate to deal with a matter. We will also accept referrals from others where 
we are the most appropriate enforcement body to deal with something effectively. All 
exchanges of information will meet the requirements of current Data Protection legislation 
and good practice. Where regular or specific exchanges of information are required between 
enforcing Authorities, this will be in accordance with specific information sharing agreements. 
Internal sharing of information for investigation or enforcement purposes will be secure, fair 
and proportionate. To reduce the burden on regulated businesses and individuals, we will 

Page 22

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/constitution


Page 5

aim to follow the “collect once, use many times” principle (insofar as this is permissible if 
dealing with personal information). We will work with other regulators where conflict of advice 
to regulated businesses or individuals has become apparent in order to determine the most 
appropriate way forward for all parties.

Enforcement decisions will be fair and objective and will not be influenced by any of the 
protected characteristics of the suspect, victim, witness or offender and will be in line with our 
Equality Policy (found here). Decisions will not be influenced by improper or undue pressure 
from any source. Non-compliance found in relation to the Councils own assets or activities 
will be treated seriously and promptly and internal processes will be used to achieve 
compliance standards, escalating the matter corporately if necessary. 

We will determine a proportionate response in all cases where non-compliance is detected 
based not just on the nature of the contravention but the overall capability and capacity of the 
business or regulated person to comply, including the level of technical advice available to 
them. In coming to a decision about proportionate response, we will weigh up the likely cost 
to the business, the expected benefit to public health or safety or the environment from 
compliance as well as the seriousness of the non-contravention. 

We will apply the Primary Authority Principal for businesses which have a Primary Authority 
partnership. Where any business has a ‘Primary Authority’ relationship established with a 
local authority regulatory service our officers will communicate with that service at the earliest 
opportunity. For any businesses for which we are Primary Authority, we will encourage other 
enforcement authorities to abide by the principles of good enforcement.

We are committed to dealing firmly with those that deliberately, persistently or significantly 
fail to comply with legislation. 

If possible, the outcome of enforcement activity will be publicised where this is deemed 
necessary or useful for public education. This may also appear on the Council’s website, 
publications, publicised by the local press and on statutory registers where the Authority has 
a legal obligation to maintain or to contribute to one.

Investigation requests made to the Council will be prioritised and actioned in a proportionate 
and appropriate manner taking in such factors as risk to individuals or the environment, 
vulnerability of the person making the request or put at risk from the situation, and timeliness/ 
current status of the alleged non-compliance, and the risks from future or continuing non-
compliance. Where enforcement action is not available or cannot be progressed, the reasons 
for this will be communicated to the person or body making the request. We will take an 
evidence based approach to determine priority risks for our proactive investigations and 
targeted inspections.

In some situations enforcement action can only be taken with the assistance of complainants 
and on the basis of supporting information and intelligence they provide to the Council and 
other authorities. In these situations the evidential requirements will be explained. We will not 
get involved in vexatious complaints or civil disputes.

Page 23

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/article/11398/Equality-and-Diversity


Page 6

5. Conduct of investigations
All investigations will be carried out under the following legislation and in accordance with 
any associated guidance or codes of practice, in so far as they relate to Torridge District 
Council:

 the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
 the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
 the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (as amended by the Protection of 

Freedoms Act 2012)
 the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
 the Human Rights Act 1998
 the Crime and Disorder Act 1998

These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and used and give a 
range of protections to citizens and potential defendants. 

Powers vary depending on the legislation being used. Our authorised officers will also 
comply with the requirements of the particular legislation under which they are acting, and 
with any associated guidance or codes of practice.

Under some legislation enforcement officers are given particular powers to carry out certain 
activities including for example test purchasing, sampling, inspection of premises, goods 
equipment or documents. In certain circumstances where offences are suspected or 
evidence required legislation gives our officers powers to seize goods and documents. 
Where any items are seized officers will supply written confirmation of anything taken at the 
time or if not practical as soon as possible afterwards.

Legislation enforced can include offences of obstructing officers involved in enforcement 
activities and this can include failure to give appropriate assistance in some circumstances. 
Offences of obstruction will be formally pursued. Occasionally our officers work with the 
police and in some circumstances the police may use their powers of arrest or to stop 
vehicles. Our officers do not have the power of arrest or to stop vehicles.

Where a person, company or other legal entity is suspected of breaching legal requirements 
and formal action remain under consideration, wherever possible they will:

 Be formally interviewed under caution in accordance with the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984 usually but not exclusively audio recorded

 Be given the opportunity to demonstrate if a statutory defence is available to them
 Have the opportunity to give an explanation or make any additional comments about 

the alleged breach.

Investigations will be governed by the statutory time limit given in the legislation concerned. 
Any decision to prosecute will be taken as soon as evidence permits and action will be 
progressed as quickly as practicable. Unsuccessful enforcement action will be reviewed and 
any necessary changes to procedures or decision making criteria will be actioned and 
communicated to enforcement staff.

Investigation cases will be regularly reviewed to ensure it remains within the statutory time 
limit and whether it remains in the public interest to continue with the investigation.

Page 24



Page 7

We undertake to notify both potential defendants and witnesses in a timely way of the 
progress of investigations, the outcomes of our decisions of enforcement action and any 
rights of appeal or representation which exist. Alleged offenders or their legal representatives 
are encouraged to contact the investigating officer or team if they wish to know the progress 
on their investigation. Any person interviewed under caution will be informed in writing of 
decisions on enforcement action and the matter should not be considered as concluded until 
confirmed in writing, or a court case has taken place.

Costs of enforcement action will be pursued fully where the legislation allows.

6. Decisions on enforcement action

There is a range of enforcement options available to the Authority through the legislation it 
enforces. Enforcement can relate to both criminal and civil breaches. These vary and one or 
more may be relevant to apply in each case. In some areas, function specific enforcement 
policies will provide details in relation to their legislation. In general though, the following 
types of action are available:

Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support

Torridge District Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first response 
in the case of many breaches of legislation that are identified. Advice is provided, sometimes 
in the form of a warning letter, to assist individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as 
quickly and efficiently as possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A 
warning letter (sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to 
rectify the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified in the future, 
this letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate enforcement action to take 
on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in court as a previous conviction but it may be 
presented in evidence.

We recognise that where a business has entered into a partnership with a primary authority, 
the primary authority will provide compliance advice and support, and Torridge District 
Council will take such advice into account when considering the most appropriate 
enforcement action for it to take. It may discuss any need for compliance advice and support 
with the primary authority.

Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or prosecution, is taken, 
we recognise that there is likely to be an ongoing need for compliance advice and support, to 
prevent further breaches.

Voluntary Undertakings

Torridge District Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified 
and/or recurrences prevented. We will take any failure to honour voluntary undertakings very 
seriously and enforcement action is likely to result.

Statutory (Legal) Notices

In respect of many breaches Torridge District Council has powers to issue statutory notices. 
These include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices’, ‘Emergency Prohibition Notices’, and 
‘Improvement Notices’. Such notices are legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory 

Page 25



Page 8

notice can be a criminal offence and may lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the 
carrying out of work in default.

A statutory notice will clearly set out actions which must be taken and the timescale within 
which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any breach is rectified and/or prevented 
from recurring. It may also prohibit specified activities until the breach has been rectified 
and/or safeguards have been put in place to prevent future breaches. Where a statutory 
notice is issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided to the recipient.

Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises and/or registered 
as local land charges.

Financial penalties

We have powers to issue fixed penalty notices, and authorise others to do so, in respect of 
some breaches. A fixed penalty notice is not a criminal fine, and does not appear on an 
individual’s criminal record. If a fixed penalty is not paid, Torridge  District Council may 
commence criminal proceedings or take other enforcement action in respect of the breach.

If a fixed penalty is paid in respect of a breach we will not take any further enforcement 
action in respect of that breach. Payment of a fixed penalty does not provide immunity from 
prosecution in respect of similar or recurrent breaches. 

Torridge District Council and delegated Officers are only able to issue fixed penalty notices 
where it has specific powers to do so. If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at 
Torridge District Council’s discretion. In some circumstances, in particular where breaches 
are serious or recurrent, it may be that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a 
fixed penalty notice.

Some legislation allows civil penalties to be imposed for offences. We will consider this 
option where we are satisfied that an offence has been committed. In each case, we will 
additionally consider whether the imposition of a civil penalty is in the public interest. The 
level of penalty imposed will be in accordance with any policy for imposing financial penalties 
which will be detailed under the enforcement policy for that function.

Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc.

In some circumstances we may seek a direction from the court (in the form of an order or an 
injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented from recurring. The court may also 
direct that specified activities be suspended until the breach has been rectified and/or 
safeguards have been put in place to prevent future breaches.

Failure to comply with a court order constitutes contempt of court, a serious offence which 
may lead to imprisonment.

Torridge District Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some 
enforcement notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the restrictions 
imposed by the notice. Otherwise, we will usually only seek a court order if it has serious 
concerns about compliance with voluntary undertakings or a notice.

Simple Caution

Page 26



Page 9

Torridge District Council has the power to issue simple cautions (previously known as ‘formal 
cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious offences, where a person 
admits an offence and consents to the simple caution. Where a simple caution is offered and 
declined, we are likely to consider prosecution.

A simple caution will appear on the Local Authority’s records. It is likely to influence how 
Torridge District Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the future, and may be 
cited in court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for a similar offence. If a simple 
caution is issued to an individual (rather than a corporation) it may have consequences if that 
individual seeks certain types of employment.

Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Home Office Circular 016/2008 and other 
relevant guidance.

Prosecution

Torridge District Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or where 
other enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory notices have failed to 
secure compliance. When deciding whether to prosecute Torridge District Council has regard 
to the provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions. 

Prosecution will only be considered where Torridge District Council is satisfied that it has 
sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the defendant(s).

Before deciding that prosecution is appropriate, Torridge District Council will consider all 
relevant circumstances carefully and will have regard to the following public interest criteria:

 The seriousness of the offence committed
 The level of culpability of the offender
 The circumstances of and the harm caused to the victim
 Whether  the suspect was under the age of 18 at the time of the offence
 The impact on the community
 Whether prosecution is a proportionate response
 Whether sources of information require protection

A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may impose a fine and in 
respect of particularly serious breaches a prison sentence. The court may order the forfeiture 
and disposal of non-compliant goods and/or the confiscation of any profits which have 
resulted from the breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the 
disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors.

Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences

Torridge District Council issues a number of licences and permits. We also have a role to 
play in ensuring that appropriate standards are met in relation to licences issued by other 
agencies. Most licences include conditions which require the licence holder to take steps to 
ensure that, for example, a business is properly run. Breach of these conditions may lead to 
a review of the licence which may result in its revocation or amendment.

Page 27

https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/code-crown-prosecutors


Page 10

When considering future licence applications, Torridge District Council may take previous 
breaches and enforcement action into account.

Other Enforcement Options

Specific legislation can give the Local Authority additional sanctions in certain situations, for 
example in regard to financial enforcement. It can also confer powers such as seizure of 
property, enforced sale or works in default. Details of this will be given in conjunction with   
specific enforcement policies, or in the relevant legislation itself.

In exceptional circumstances, contraventions may not warrant any action. This can be where 
the cost of action taken by the offender to comply outweighs the detrimental impact of the 
contravention on the community, or the cost of the required enforcement action to the 
Council outweighs the detrimental impact of the contravention on the community. A decision 
of no action may also be taken where formal enforcement is inappropriate in the 
circumstances, such as where a business has ceased to trade, or the offender is elderly and 
frail and formal action could seriously damage their wellbeing. A decision to take no action 
will take into account the implications of the contravention. Usually a decision to take no 
action will only be made where the breach is not a serious one.

7. Review of this policy
This Policy will be reviewed from time to time and refreshed should any changes in 
legislation or relevant codes of practice or guidance require it to be updated. We shall publish 
this and our service standards on our website and we welcome, and will respond to any 
comments on the Policy at any time. This policy and any updates or changes to it will be 
ratified in accordance with Torridge District Council’s constitution. 

8. Comments and Complaints
In most situations where Torridge District Council takes enforcement action, there is a 
statutory right to appeal. This will always be communicated with the subject of the action at 
the appropriate time.

If an alleged offender is being prosecuted or subject to formal legal action in court then the 
court process has its own channels for legally challenging the action or the outcome through 
a court appeal.

If a matter has not yet reached court or in any other case where a person affected by an 
enforcement decision is dissatisfied, see our Complaints procedure for further advice on how 
to proceed (found here)

Contact details for comments or complaints about the policy

You can contact the Council by the following means:

Address:       Riverbank House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG
Email:            Complaints@torridge.gov.uk
Telephone:  01237 428700
Website:  http://www.torridge.gov.uk

Page 28

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/article/14590/Complaints-About-Services
mailto:complaints@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/


Appendix A: Legislation, Guidance and Codes that Influenced the 
Preparation of the Enforcement Policy

A. Principles of Good Regulation

The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, Part 2, requires Torridge District Council to have 
regard to the Principles of Good Regulation when exercising a specified regulatory function1. For 
local authorities, the specified functions include those carried out by our environmental health, and 
licensing services. 

We will exercise our regulatory activities in a way which is: 

(i) Proportionate – our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and enforcement action 
taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence,

(ii) Accountable – our activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and accessible 
policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures,

(iii) Consistent – our advice to those we regulate will be robust and reliable and we will respect 
advice provided by others. Where circumstances are similar, we will endeavour to act in 
similar ways to other local authorities,

(iv) Transparent – we will ensure that those we regulate are able to understand what is 
expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 

(v) Targeted – we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and activities, reflecting 
local need and national priorities.

B. Regulators’ Code

Torridge District Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code in the preparation of this policy. In 
certain instances we may conclude that a provision in the Code is either not relevant or is 
outweighed by another provision. We will ensure that any decision to depart from the Code will be 
properly reasoned, based on material evidence and documented.

C. Human Rights Act 1998

Torridge District Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998. We 
therefore apply the principles of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all associated enforcement decisions take account of the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is had to the right to a fair trial 
and the right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.

D. General Data Protection Regulations 2018

Where there is a need for Torridge District Council to share enforcement information with other 
agencies, we will follow the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulations 2018.

E. The Code for Crown Prosecutors

When deciding whether to prosecute Torridge District Council has regard to the provisions of The 
Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions.

1 Specified by the Legislative and Regulatory Reform (Regulatory Functions) Order 2007, available at 
www.legislation.gov.uk

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/code-crown-prosecutors
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/code-crown-prosecutors
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Torridge District Council Corporate Enforcement Policy

12

The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the general principles to follow 
when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting cases. The Code sets out two tests that must 
be satisfied, commonly referred to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public Interest Test’:

a. Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant?

When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, Torridge District Council will 
consider what evidence can be used in court and is reliable. We must be satisfied there is 
enough evidence to provide a "realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged 
offender.

b. Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be brought to court?

Torridge District Council will balance factors for and against prosecution carefully and fairly, 
considering each case on its merits. The public interest factors that we will take into account 
are detailed under the enforcement options available to us as outlined in this policy. 

F. Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 (‘the RES Act’)

The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008, as amended, established the Primary 
Authority scheme. We will comply with the requirements of the Act when we are considering taking 
enforcement action against any business or organisation that has a primary authority, and will have 
regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State in relation to Primary Authority.

Page 30



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 1 of 8

REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community & Resources Committee
Subject: Annual Review of Car Parking
Date: 26th November 2018 Reference:

INTRODUCTION

The Council’s parking charges are due for review. As in recent years this has been 
conducted by the Car Park Working Group (CPWG) at a meeting that consisted of 
Members, Officers and Town Councillors/ Clerks. Unfortunately this year 
representatives from Bideford and District Chamber of Commerce and Northam 
Town Council where unable to attend. 

The purpose of the meeting was to seek the views of these stakeholders from the 
outset, thus enabling agreed proposals to be presented to this committee for 
approval.

It is imperative that the proposals outlined in this report, which has the full support of 
Councillor Hicks (Lead Member for the Torridge Economy) and the CPWG which 
met on 31st October, including any subsequent revisions, are finalised at this 
meeting. This will then provide sufficient time to make any necessary revisions to the 
Off Street Parking Order in accordance with the legal process if they are required. 
This is essential if the proposed implementation date of March 2019 is to be 
achieved.

As in previous years, the main thrust of this review is to consolidate our present 
position with a view to providing a sustainable and successful customer focused 
service, whilst maximising the use of our car parks and in doing so protecting the 
service cost base.

REPORT

Background

The last major review of parking charges occurred in 2017 and this was to ensure 
our charges and operating times better aligned to those of our immediate 
neighbours. 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

To review the Council’s car parking charges for 2019/20

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 2 of 8

The following table shows Revenue Budget  - income and expenditure for parking 
operations for the period 2017/18

 2018/19
 Budget
 £
Income  
Car Park Fees (1,101,850)
Reserved Bays (37,159)
Season Tickets (69,644)
Penalty Charge Notices (Off 
Street) (74,580)
Wayleaves and Rentals (3,615)
Total Budgeted Income (1,286,848)
 
Total Expenditure* 438,785 
 
Net Contribution    (848,063)

*Exclusive of capital charges and recharges

2018/19 performance to end of quarter 2 (Sept 2018)

Car parking revenue (Pay & Display Excluding Wilkey’s Field Car Park) based on 
latest receipts at the end of October is exceeding budget by £28,469, up from the 
September result of £17,162 -  £40,000 has already been declared as a forecast 
estimate and £36,000 has been included in next year’s MTFS. It is to be noted that 
the parking income is volatile and has contracted since the forecast and this might 
have to be revised to a lower figure.

Pay & Display receipts were boosted earlier this year primarily due the fine weather 
experienced early this summer which attracted additional visitors to our region. 
Members will recall that in previous years when the summers have been 
predominantly wet, the Council has reported it was unlikely to achieve the budgeted 
forecast for Pay & Display receipts and the downturn in the weather this year might 
have a similar effect..

We had budgeted for £40,000 of income to be received from Wilkey’s Field Car Park 
but delays in delivery have meant that this has not been achieved and therefore 
there has been a detrimental impact on the budgetary position.  

Season ticket income is also likely to come in £10,000 above budget.

Penalty Charge Notice income is currently up by £3,879 and is likely to meet the 
budget forecast of £74,580.

Miscellaneous income (reserved bays) is on target to achieve the £37,159 budget.

The net effect of the above on the operating surplus if the situation does not 
deteriorate will be approximately £2,755 up on the budgeted forecast.

Page 32



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 3 of 8

Capital and Maintenance 

In addition to the Revenue Income and Expenditure in the table above TDC invests 
resources to repair and maintain car parks.  There is investment planned in new 
machines and equipment as well as a new car park at Wilkeys Field in Westward 
Ho!.  The Capital Programme 2018-19 includes investment in car parks of £1.048m 
of which £0.64m is allocated to the Wilkeys Field site.

Further investment is planned in 2019-20 including the provision of new payments 
options as outlined in the report below.

Charging Proposals

As stated in the introduction, the Car Park Working Group (CPWG) met on the 31st 
October. The group considered a number of matters including:

 Parking charges. 

The working group considered the charges currently levied across all of the 
car parks in Torridge. The pay and display charges were increased for short 
stay car parks in March 2016 and the group considered that there would be 
no recommendation for further increase this year.

 Permits

With the introduction next year (2019) of PermitSmarti provided by Imperial 
Civil Enforcement Solutions (ICES), there will be a £2.50 charge to TDC per 
card transaction when members of the public are purchasing permits online 
from us. This upgrade to online Permits will save time and administration on 
the resource required at present. 

At present members of the public have several options available to them 
when they wish to purchase a permit.

1. Complete an online application on the TDC website, where customers 
pay by credit/debit card, then the application, VAT receipt and payment 
confirmation is emailed to car parks, printed off and processed by a member 
of staff, the permit & VAT receipt is then sent out first class post (.65p).

2. Members of the public can call into TDC Reception office and complete 
a paper application, make their payment by credit/debit card or cheque, then 
this is emailed to the Parking Office, printed off, processed and posted out 
first class.

3. Members of the public can complete a paper application that we can 
send out in the post, again first class, they then send it back for us to process 
along with a cheque payable to TDC that has to go through our Banking 
system. The permit is then sent first class post.

Page 33



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 4 of 8

PermitSmarti would eliminate all of the above cost and administration time.
The £2.50 card transaction fee can be added to the permit price via an 
increase in all our permit prices, that haven’t been increased in over 11 years 
by TDC.

An analysis of permit sales in recent years is shown in the table below.

PERMIT SALES 2016/2017 2017/2018 01/04/18 – 
31/08/18

Business 167 
£39,747

146 
£35,353

70   
£16,467

Business Monthly 479 
£12,933

441
 £11,907

167   
£4,509

Season 123 
£33,832

143 
£40,761

75   
£20,612

Season Monthly 327 
£10,464

392 
£12,544

158   
£4,992

Tourist 240 
£4,800

315   
£6,300

232   
£4,640

Other Tourist: 
Cust.Servs,Burton 
& Park Mobile)

76   
£1,520

111 
 £2,220

88     
£1,760

Reserved Bays 88       
£34,610

88       
£32,985

 88    
£29,246

Resident 31 
 £1,860

47      
£2,820

24       
£1,440

T – Pill Business 10    
£6,426

9        
£6,426

 2         
£1,512

Totals  1541  
£146,192

1692       
£151,016

  904  
£85,178 

With reference to the above figures (2017/18) if the administration fee of  
£2.50 per permit were added (excluding Reserved Bays, as they would not be 
available online due to waiting lists and it is intended to arrange for these to 
be monthly direct debits wef 2019/20), the Council could achieve an extra 
income of £4,010

In addition an increase of £20 per Reserved Bay permit we would achieve an 
extra income of £1,760 totalling extra income of £5,770 Per Annum.

If an administration fee of £5.00 per permit based on the same years figs. We 
would achieve an extra income of £8,020 per annum adding on the reserved 
bay income of £1,760 we would total an extra £9,780 per annum.

Reserved Bays are in high demand, with long waiting lists in Odun Road, 
West Appledore, Pannier Market  & Windmill Lane.

There are 23 marked reserved bays in Riverbank car park of which only 14 
are taken (the only car park without a waiting list). Of these there are 4 bays in 

Page 34



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 5 of 8

the short stay section available (potential loss of income of up to £10 a day 
per bay x 4 = £14,560 pa.) and 5 bays in the long stay section (potential loss 
of income of up to £3.00 per day per bay x 5 = £5,460 pa) that could be 
returned to Pay and Display parking thus negating a potential loss of £20,020 
to TDC on an annual basis. 

If we were to repair the bays in the short stay section (4 bays) that are not 
rented out at present because they have tree roots making the bays uneven, 
hence members of the public do not want to pay £447 for a bay for the year 
that is not really suitable for parking in. 

It would then be possible to move the few rented bays in the long stay section 
up to the short stay section and release more bays to be pay and display in 
the long stay section.

Recommendation 1:

Increase all permit charges by £5.00 

Increase reserved bay charges from £447 to £500 (to include the £5 admin 
fee).

Increased double reserved bay charges (Willet St Only) from £693 to £775 (to 
include the £5.00 admin fee).
.

Other Proposals

The CPWG has also considered a number of other options for Members approval as 
follows:

 Additional Free parking from 12 noon Saturday until 6pm Sunday on 
Barley Grove car park, Well Park car park and Riverbank Short Stay car 
park – 

The group discussed a suggestion from Torrington Town Council that Barley 
Grove should have free parking in line with the charging hours in Sydney 
House.  It was agreed, in the interests of fairness, that if this were to be 
considered that similar additional extra free parking arrangements should be 
considered in Bideford and Holsworthy. If these arrangements were to be 
considered it is likely that the council would experience the following loss of 
income (based on taking over the past 12 months in those car parks):

Barley Grove -      £2,200
Well Park       -        £500
Riverbank      -   £15,500
Total               - £18,200 per annum

The issues was discussed at length during the parking review in 2016 and 
dismissed on the grounds of affordability.

Page 35



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 6 of 8

Recommendation 2 – As there is no compelling evidence that free parking 
has had a demonstrably beneficial impact on town centre trading this request 
should be rejected.  Free parking to support events or special occasions can 
be considered on request and agreed subject to approval by the Planning and 
Economy Manager and Lead Member for the Economy subject to the budget 
position at the time of request.

 Payment methods – 

In the United Kingdom 78.4% of payments were made by credit or debit card in 
April 2017, a figure which continues to grow. Currently all of our machines are 
coin operated and do not accommodate for card payments. Through our current 
provider (CALE) Torridge District Council are able to upgrade the ‘doors’ within 
their machines providing customers with the option to pay with card.

The card payment facilities would include additional overheads, however will 
increase income due to the accessibility card payments provide, while also 
providing a more positive experience for our customers. Due to the additional 
overheads and through consultations with other local authorities, the minimum 
payment of which a machine should authorise is £3 per transaction.

Within Torridge District Council we operate 5 car parks of which either have an 
hourly charge of £1.00 per hour and/or a daily fee of which exceeds £3.00. Four 
of these car parks reside within Bideford (Bridge Street, The Pill, The Quay, 
Riverbank (Short) and one in Westward Ho! (Main). 

The capital cost of installation is expected to be in the region of £35,000 based 
on a recent quote.

Recommendation 3– That members approve the installation of new doors to the 
existing pay and display machines on the five short stay car parks identified 
above to allow for card and contactless payment.  The minimum transaction 
should be £3.00 to encourage longer stays in the town and to help to cover 
additional transaction costs.

If the transition is met with positive feedback and increases income within these 
car parks then it is proposed that the new doors are introduced to further car 
parks within Bideford (subject to suitable tariffs within these car parks).

 Other issues – 

Improvements to the No Exit arrangements at the bottom of Bridge Street Car 
Park were also discussed.  The Planning and Economy Manager will arrange 
for improved signage and bollards to make exit through the no exit section 
less attractive for those seeking to jump traffic queues on Bridge St.  This 
matter does not require committee resolution as it is an operational/ issue.

In addition Cllr Tony Inch requested that further consideration be given to 2hrs 
free parking to support the town centres.  This was discussed and it was 

Page 36



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 7 of 8

agreed that there would be no recommendation to provide 2hrs of free parking 
but that schemes to improve parking arrangements to support our town 
centres would be considered in further conversations with our chambers of 
Commerce, County Council and Town Councils.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Any change to existing charges would require a change to the District of Torridge Off 
Street (Parking Places) Order 2013 (as amended) in accordance with the due legal 
process.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Maintaining income streams from parking operations is essential in enabling the 
Council to provide the services our communities have come to expect. 

It should be noted that any change to the Off Street Parking Places Order requires 
the Council to follow a legal process which will incur substantial advertising costs. 
In addition further costs will be incurred from machine and signage changes if 
required.  The order was last changed for implementation in March 2016.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

There are no Human Resource implications identified.

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

It is essential that income is generated from off street parking operations in order to 
support and sustain other essential services. 

EQUALITY/DIVERSITY

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for Parking Services.

RISK MANAGEMENT

There is potential for any shortfall in income to impact on our ability to deliver our 
own corporate goals and meet service delivery expectations.

COMPLIANCE WITH POLICIES AND STRATEGIES

Parking is operated in accordance with the provisions of the Road Traffic Act 1984, 
The Traffic Management Act 2004 and any other relevant legislation.

LEAD MEMBER & CAR PARK WORKING GROUP VIEWS

Councillor Hicks – the appropriate management of our car parks plays an important 
role in supporting out town centres, tourism economy and quality of life for our 
residents.  I am pleased that we will not be recommending an increase to our pay 
and display tariffs but support the modest increase to permits and reserved bay 

Page 37



Report Protocol 16/11/2018 
Page 8 of 8

charging as proposed as these charges have not been increased for more than 10 
years.

CONCLUSIONS

The Council recognises the integral role that car parks play in providing essential 
parking facilities for our communities, visitors and local business. Equally, we must 
not under estimate the impact any net increase in service cost would have on other 
essential services. 

The proposals in this report, if adopted as recommended will require changes to be 
advertised and made to the Off Street Parking Places Order.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:

I. Consider the commentary and  3 recommendations contained within this report 
and decide if any, part or all of them should be accepted. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Car Park Working Group
Head of Paid Service
Legal Services Manager and Interim Monitoring Officer
Strategic Manager Resources 

Contact Officer: Planning and Economy Manager

Background Papers: Notes of the Car Park Working Group and car park data.

Page 38



REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Northern Devon Tourism Strategy 2018 -2022
Date: 26th November Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To present the Northern Devon Tourism Strategy 2108- 2022 for adoption.

1. INTRODUCTION

For some time the absence of strategic guidance for the development and marketing of Tourism 
across Northern Devon has been recognised as detrimental for the successful development of 
the industry

2. REPORT

The Tourism Strategy is attached as Appendix 1 for the consideration of Members.

The strategy was presented to Internal Overview and Scrutiny committee on the 7th August 2018 
and following extensive debate was unanimously approved as a good document that will help to 
guide our work in tourism.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
 
None

Financial Implications

None

Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability Implications

The Strategy will help the council to deliver a more sustainable tourism project for the 
district.

Equality/Diversity

Equality and diversity have ben at the heart of the strategy in formulation.

Risk Management

N/A

Page 39

Agenda Item 12



Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The strategy is aligned to higher level Tourism and Economic Strategy.

It is also aligned with the Council’s strategic Goal of Developing a sustainable and 
prosperous economy.

Ward Member and Leader Member Views

Cllr Hicks

I endorse this strategy and look forward to now moving forward in developing tourism in 
Torridge.

3. CONCLUSIONS

The strategy is endorsed by Internal Overview and Scrutiny Committee for adoption by 
Community and Resources Committee.

 
The Strategy is a joint document with North Devon, who have already adopted it for use.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That members consider the Northern Devon Tourism Strategy 2018 -2022 and adopt 
it for use by the Council as guiding document for developing the tourism industry of 
the District and wider Northern Devon

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations:
Contact 
Officer:

Sean Kearney

Background 
Papers:

Page 40



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Northern Devon 
Tourism Strategy 
2018 – 2022 
Supporting growth in northern Devon 
 
North Devon Council & Torridge District Council 
in partnership with North Devon Marketing Bureau 

 

  

Linda Thompson by courtesy of North Devon Marketing Bureau 

Page 41



  

Page 42



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

1 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Tourism is one of northern Devon’s most important sectors, estimated to be worth some £0.56 

billion and to support more than 11,100 local jobs (‘northern Devon’ comprises the combined North 

Devon and Torridge District areas). The sector is particularly important to many of our most rural 

and peripheral communities, where it is often difficult to find businesses and employment that are 

not in some way reliant on tourism. 

We are fortunate to live and work in one of the world’s most beautiful places and privileged to be 

able to share that with others to generate business opportunities and employment for our 

communities. Each year we welcome over 6 million visitors to northern Devon. Their experiences of 

the area are not just defined by our natural and built features, but also by their use of public 

services, infrastructure and their contact with a range of often very small businesses who collectively 

provide their accommodation, food and drink, attraction and entertainment options.  If we are to 

maximise the opportunities that tourism presents in a manner that does not damage the area’s main 

assets and capacity to support livelihoods in the future, we must work together. And if visitors are to 

have excellent experiences of northern Devon, we all need to be at the top of our game.  

This joint strategy sets out how North Devon Council and Torridge District Council together will 

support the development of tourism in northern Devon over the next five years with the aim of 

growing the value of the visitor economy. The strategy has been prepared in partnership with North 

Devon Marketing Bureau through a bottom-up process based upon consultation with businesses and 

key stakeholders, setting out an agenda for collective action. As District Councils, we will take a lead 

role in many of the required activities. In other areas, where other stakeholders may have a primary 

interest, we can help to facilitate and support. A key theme throughout is partnership working to 

achieve the strategy’s aims together.  

As with any strategy, things will change and new opportunities will arise. At the heart of this 

document is a flexible framework which has driven the range of agenda items and can be added to 

and adjusted over time. We expect to refresh this framework in response to circumstances, adding 

new strategic actions as appropriate.  

  

 

Page 43



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

2 
 

TOURISM IN NORTHERN DEVON 

Northern Devon’s peripheral location, distanced from the main urban centres to the south and east 

with only limited transport connections across the natural barriers of Exmoor and Dartmoor, is one 

of the area’s strengths and weaknesses.  

The area’s ‘get away from it all’ isolation and unspoilt rural character and charm are increasingly rare 

commodities within a busy world, where making time to relax and recharge is often considered a 

luxury. But at the same time, a key challenge is reaching and connecting with visitor markets many 

miles away to raise awareness of and interest in northern Devon and to convert that awareness into 

action. 

For those who have discovered northern Devon, and many have, the rewards are many: 

 A world class natural environment, with internationally important landscapes and coastlines, 

award winning beaches, untouched rural gems, and diverse wildlife and plant life.  

 A National Park, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve, two 

Heritage Coasts, three Marine Conservation Zones, including England’s first around dramatic 

Lundy Island, and the unique medieval landscape of Braunton Great Field. 

 Distinctive market towns, coastal and rural communities and a rich heritage, including 

unique historic buildings, harbours and gardens, a history of maritime exploration and 

piracy, World War II military sites, links to the USA and an historically important ceramics 

industry. 

 Extensive opportunities for outdoor activities and exploration, including walking, off-road 

and long-distance cycle trails, excellent conditions for surfing, sailing and other watersports, 

wildlife-watching, fishing, golf. 

 A vibrant contemporary arts and cultural scene with important museums and galleries. 

 Colourful festivals and events reflecting the heritage, character and spirit of the area. 

 An extensive range of quality accommodation and attractions. 

 Locally produced and nationally acclaimed food and drink, with opportunities to visit and 

taste. 

 Award winning attractions, from theme parks to gardens, offering an exciting range of things 

to do.  

 
Page 44



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

3 
 

THE VALUE OF TOURISM TO NORTHERN DEVON 

Each year significant numbers of visitors are attracted to northern Devon. Through their direct 

spending and additional indirect and induced spending generated by tourism-related businesses and 

their employees, the visitor economy in northern Devon generates important economic and social 

benefits for the area. 

In 2016… 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: The South West Research Company, The Economic Impact of Devon’s Visitor Economy 2016 

6.3m 
visitors 

£480m 

£0.56 
billion 

11,100 
jobs 

5.6m 
nights 

northern Devon attracted an 

estimated:                                                          

1.3m staying trips 
5.0m day trips                                                          

£311m by staying visitors    
£169m by day visitors                                                      

…and business turnover in 

excess of:                                                         

The visitor economy 

supported more than: 

Overnight visitors stayed a 

total of:                                                        

who spent:                                                         

including as a result of tourism business  

spending locally and employee spending  

19% of employment in North Devon    
10% of employment in Torridge    
 

9% were overseas visitor nights 
compared to 15% across Devon                                                      

Page 45



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

4 
 

OUR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

t 
h

 e
 m

 e
 s

 
m

 i 
s 

s 
i o

 n
 

s 
c 

o
 p

 e
 

d
 e

 l 
i v

 e
 r

 y
 

Mission:  We will work collaboratively to grow the value of the northern Devon visitor economy by ensuring our 
tourism offer excites and delights. We will do this by drawing on our unique environment and cultural assets, and 
by providing world-class hospitality, year-round. We will promote northern Devon as the destination of choice for 
higher value domestic and overseas visitors. 

Developing 

the tourism 

PRODUCT 

 Engaging & 

CONNECTING 

with visitors 

Developing 

CAPACITY & 

CAPABILITIES  

Business development & 
support – entrepreneurship, 
advice/guidance to maximise 
potential, access finance 

Sector skills – apprenticeships, 
career paths, customer care, 
leadership & management, 
developing the skills base  

Sustainable tourism – 
(developing capacity for) 
sharing knowledge, good 
practice, business support  

Information & knowledge – 
sharing market information, 
trends, visitor research 

Collaboration – bringing the 
sector together, linking with 
key partners, joint working  

 

Branding & identity to 
distinguish/differentiate the 
area 

Target offerings for key markets 
(e.g. families, couples, budget, 
high-end, overseas, business, 
conferences, weddings), and 
themes (e.g. coastal, rural, 
relaxation, nature experiences) 

Marketing strategy – USP, 
segmentation, packages & deals 

Communications plan – build 
awareness, communicating with 
prospective visitors before, 
during and after their visit 

Website – the online shop 
window 

Signage into and within the area, 
increasing awareness & access 

Collaboration – engagement and 
joint-working with other areas & 
regionally 

Natural environment – beaches, 
sea, landscapes, biodiversity, 
tranquillity (conserving & 
enhancing) 

Built environment - coastal & 
market towns, rural villages, sites 
& buildings (conserving & 
enhancing) 

Heritage & culture – The Arts, 
museums, galleries, historic 
buildings/monuments, stories 

Marine leisure/activity sports – 
developing the water- and activity 
sports economy  

Tourism business products & 
services – attractions, 
accommodation, activities, food 
& drink, entertainment (see also 
‘Capacity & Capabilities’) 

Public/private services – parks, 
leisure centres, swimming pools, 
public rights of way 

Events & festivals – supporting 
events that create new reasons to 
visit, extending the season 

Evening economy – enabling & 
developing opportunities  

Infrastructure – broadband, wifi, 
public realm, trails, parking, 
access, electric car charging 

Transport – roads, rail, bus, cycle, 
ferry links 

 

- Elements led by relevant lead organisations e.g. local authorities, NDMB, public 
agencies/authorities, individual businesses 

- Develop appropriate action plans  

- Close joint working across the range of activities and sectors 

3 inter-linked themes 

Page 46



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

5 
 

The framework 

Our Strategic Framework is the product of discussions and consultation with tourism-related 

businesses and stakeholder organisations around the issues and opportunities facing the 

development of tourism in northern Devon. Themes and priorities emerged from the results of a 

strategy workshop, organised in conjunction with the North Devon Marketing Bureau in November 

2017, and were refined through further consultation with the sector.  The resultant Framework 

presents a structure and an agenda for collective action. It recognises that tourism is a complex 

industry with multiple dependencies and stakeholders, and that in order to make significant 

progress we need to work closely together in a joined-up manner.  

Our mission 

Our mission and ‘direction of travel’ is: 

“We will work collaboratively to grow the value of the northern Devon visitor economy by 

ensuring our tourism offer excites and delights. We will do this by drawing on our unique 

environment and cultural assets, and by providing world-class hospitality, year-round. We will 

promote northern Devon as the destination of choice for higher value domestic and overseas 

visitors”. 

Key themes 

To support this mission, we have organised activity within three inter-linked themes which emerged 

from the discussions and consultation: 

1. Developing the tourism product – the core assets, facilities and infrastructure upon which 

tourism depends to attract and retain visitors in the area.  

2. Engaging and connecting with visitors – reaching out to potential visitor markets to raise 

awareness and impetus to visit, and to inform their experiences. 

3. Developing capacity and capabilities of individual businesses and of the sector as a whole in 

northern Devon to take advantage of opportunities and potential for growth. 

These themes are inter-linked so that action taken under one theme can influence and support 

activities within others. In this way the Framework encourages and benefits from joined-up thinking 

and working, with flexibility to respond to changing circumstances.  

Core principles 

Core principles and ‘cross-cutting themes’ that will be relevant to all planned activities are: 

 Partnership working – working positively together to deliver joined-up solutions. 

 Growth & productivity – a focus on benefiting the area economically through new business 

opportunities and productivity gains. 

 Sustainability – preferring ‘wise growth’ that does not compromise the high quality 

environmental and cultural assets upon which the future of tourism in the area depends. 

 Generating benefits for host communities – delivering social and economic benefits for the 

communities that host tourism activity and for the wider northern Devon area. 

   

Page 47



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

6 
 

 

DELIVERY & ACTIVITY PLANS 

As District Councils, we anticipate playing a key role within each of the three themes. The sections 

below outline where and how we expect to add value. In some areas, such as public services and 

infrastructure, we are well-placed to take a lead, working with appropriate partners to deliver 

actions. In other areas, such as branding and marketing where the North Devon Marketing Bureau 

will lead, we expect to play more of a supportive role, for example in helping to convene appropriate 

working groups and facilitating joined-up discussions and activity. For each of the following activities 

we expect to raise appropriate action plans in conjunction with key partners. 

1. Developing the Tourism Product 

Within this theme we will lead and support 

initiatives that bring communities and 

partners together to enhance the core 

tourism product which is collectively owned.  

In developing the key tourism assets, 

infrastructure and facilities upon which 

tourism in northern Devon depends, we will:  

 

a. The natural environment – beaches, sea,  landscapes, biodiversity, tranquillity (conserving and 

enhancing)  

- Landscape and conservation - Support northern Devon’s landscape and conservation 

designations, including Exmoor National Park, North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty and North Devon UNESCO Biosphere Reserve, which are central to the area’s 

attraction for visitors. 

- Nature tourism - Work with key partners to develop the ‘natural environment product’ and 

appropriate opportunities for exploring, walking, cycling, watersports, wildlife watching, 

experiencing ‘Dark Skies’ and other nature-based tourism. We will develop a joint action 

plan with partners. 

- Enhancing quality - Support the area’s Blue Flag status beaches and initiatives to enhance 

the environmental quality of the area. 

- Access - Promote the use of northern Devon’s natural areas and support the enhancement 

of appropriate access and facilities, including beach and disability access. 

b. The built environment – coastal & market towns, rural villages, sites & buildings (protecting 

and enhancing) 

- Conserve and enhance - Through Planning Policy, conserve and enhance the diversity and 

quality of the built environment as a significant attraction for visitors, including historic 

market towns and harbours. 

- Coastal settlements - Support the area’s Coastal Community Teams to deliver strategies for 

development of their local economy, in particular the visitor economy. 

Neville Stanikk by courtesy of North Devon Coast AONB 

Page 48



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

7 
 

- Market towns - Encourage and support other market towns to develop local strategies to 

enhance the visitor proposition and to make the very most of the area’s assets. We will 

create frameworks for developing strategies and local marketing plans. 

c. Heritage & culture – the Arts, museums, historic buildings/monuments, gardens, stories 

- A joined-up visitor proposition - Work with key partners to develop a strategy and action plan 

for a joined-up heritage and culture visitor proposition to attract new visitors to the area, 

year-round.  

- Support new attractions - Support and help develop arts, culture and heritage attractions 

that tap into and help promote the area’s heritage and culture. 

d. Marine leisure/activity sports – developing the water- and activity sports economy 

- A joined-up visitor proposition - Work with key partners and operators to develop a strategy 

and action plan for a joined-up Marine Leisure proposition and for other activity sports to 

attract new visitors to the area, year-round.  

- Ilfracombe Watersports Centre – Develop and manage Ilfracombe Watersports Centre as a 

focal point for marine leisure activities in the northern part of the area. 

e. Tourism business products & services – attractions, accommodation, food & drink, 

entertainment  

- Support investment – Encourage investment in accommodation, attractions, food & drink, 

retail and other tourism-related businesses in northern Devon to increase quality, in 

particular enhanced wet-weather options. 

- Product development – Through partnerships, encourage the collective development of new 

and enhanced tourism products (e.g. area-wide food & drink, business tourism, garden 

tourism, for TV/film companies, weddings).  We will help develop action plans with partners.  

- Town centres - Support Town Centre Managers, Chambers of Commerce and other business 

groups to increase the vibrancy and footfall of the area’s market towns through joint 

working. 

- Accessibility – Work across the sector and with key agencies to ensure that visitors with 

disabilities, experiencing physical and/or mental health issues, have increasing access to the 

range of facilities in the area, including through the provision of information and customer 

service.  

f. Public/private services – direct delivery of services for visitors (e.g. parks, leisure centres, 

swimming pools, public rights of way) 

- Public facilities – Develop and promote the range of District Council owned and supported 

sports, leisure and entertainment facilities to visitors and residents. 

g. Events & festivals – supporting events that create new reasons to visit, extend the season 

- A calendar of events – Work with organisers to establish a joined-up calendar of events to 

present a varied programme for visitors and residents.  

- New events & festivals - Encourage innovative new events and festivals to inspire new visits 

to the area, particularly out of season. 

Page 49



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

8 
 

- Building resilience - Help to strengthen the programme of existing festivals and events, 

supporting organisers to develop resilience and long-term sustainability. 

- North Devon FoodFest – support the development of the North Devon Foodfest as a 

showcase for the area’s food & drink proposition. 

- Disseminate information - Help to build better awareness of the programme of festivals and 

events in northern Devon to increase visitor numbers and overnight stays, particularly 

outside of the main season. 

h. Evening economy – developing opportunities 

- Developing action plans – Work with Town Centre Managers, Chambers of Commerce and 

other business groups to develop appropriate action plans for development of the evening 

economy.  

i. Infrastructure – broadband, wifi, public realm, trails, parking, access  

- Public realm - Work with the sector to inform the development and enhancement of 

appropriate public realm that adds positive value to the visitor experience. 

- New developments - Ensure that the value of tourism is recognised within appropriate 

regeneration plans and Development Briefs for key sites within the area.  

- Broadband & mobile network – Work with tourism-related businesses to raise awareness 

regionally and nationally of Broadband and mobile network issues within northern Devon 

and support initiatives to increase reach and performance across the area. 

- Parking - Maintain the public parking network across the area and work with landowners 

and operators to ensure adequate provision to support the visitor economy. 

- WiFi & electric vehicle charging points - Work with communities to increase the provision of 

WiFi and electric vehicle charging points within towns and villages. 

- Green infrastructure - Work with partners to maintain and enhance the Tarka Trail and to 

assist communities to draw value from proximity to the Trail, the South West Coast Path, the 

Devon Coast to Coast Cycle Route and the Tarka Rail Line. 

j. Transport – roads, rail, bus, cycle 

- Access to the area - Work with transport operators (rail, bus, coach, ferry, air) to identify 

opportunities to enhance the ‘visitor journey’ into the area, including accessibility. 

- Public transport connections within the area - Encourage joined-up public transport solutions 

within the area to increase car-free visit options.  

- Road quality – Work with partners to identify and raise awareness of road problems within 

and into the area and to support actions to improve. 

- Sustainable transport - Explore with partners the scope and viability for sustainable 

transport solutions that add value for visitors and generate environmental and community 

benefits. 

  

Page 50



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

9 
 

2. Engaging and Connecting with 

Visitors 

Within this theme we will play a supporting 

and facilitating role to the sector to help 

develop a range of activities focused on 

engaging and connecting with visitor markets 

to build awareness and interest, leading to 

new and extended visits.  

We will: 

a. Branding & Identity – to distinguish and differentiate the area 

- Identity – Work with the sector to review branding and identity to ensure that it supports current 

and future aspirations for the area. 

b. Marketing strategy –  segmentation, offerings, packages, promotions & deals 

- A strategy for marketing the area – Support the sector to develop a strategy and action plan for 

marketing the area to key audiences, including: 

 Market analysis – Understanding the nature of tourism in the area and wider trends. 

 Consideration of strengths, weaknesses and unique selling points. 

 Offerings for key markets – Identifying key visitor market segments (e.g. families, couples, 

budget, high-end, international, business, coach parties) and the range of appropriate 

clustered products and experiences to offer them. 

 Offerings for key themes – Identifying key interest ‘themes’ (e.g. coastal, rural, nature, 

health & relaxation), and the relevant clustered package of tourism products and 

experiences to offer visitors. 

c. Communications plan – build awareness, communicating with prospective visitors before, during 

and after their visit 

- Communicating with customers - Support the sector to develop an appropriate Communications 

Plan to engage with and sell the area to existing and new target visitor groups before, during and 

after visits. 

d. Website – the online shop window 

- Website content – Support the sector to populate and maintain the northdevon.com website as 

the online shop window for the destination area in line with the Marketing Strategy. 

- Promotion – Help promote the northdevon.com website wherever appropriate. 

e. Signage – increasing awareness & access 

- Strategy and action plan – Support the sector and engage with key partners to develop an 

appropriate strategy for signage into and within the area (e.g. to ensure appropriate access to 

key attractions, facilities, car parks).  

f. Collaboration – engagement and joint-working with other areas & regionally 

- Co-operation & joint initiatives – Work closely with the sector to explore opportunities for 

working with other destination areas and regionally on strategic product development and 

marketing. 

 
Neville Stanikk by courtesy of North Devon Coast AONB 

Page 51



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

10 
 

3. Developing Capacity and 

Capabilities 

Within this theme we will deliver and 

support activities and initiatives that assist 

the growth of tourism businesses and build 

knowledge, capacity and resilience within 

the sector as a whole. 

We will:  

 

a. Business development & support – entrepreneurship, advice/guidance to maximise potential, 

access to finance 

- Business support – Work with partners to increase access to business advice and support 

programmes that develop entrepreneurship and growth potential. 

- Access to finance – Disseminate information about new grant and finance schemes for which 

tourism businesses would be eligible to apply. 

- Disseminating innovations - Support the dissemination of new market innovations, including 

sustainable business practices, which add value to the visitor proposition and increase 

productivity within the sector. 

b. Sector skills – apprenticeships, career paths, customer care, leadership & management, 

developing the skills base  

- Tourism skills action plan - Work with key partners to develop an action plan to identify and 

address the future skills needs of the sector, including apprenticeships, career paths, 

customer care, leadership and management. 

c. Sustainable tourism – (developing capacity for) sharing knowledge, good practice, business 

support  

- Sustainable business practices - Support initiatives that increase the adoption of innovative 

sustainable business practices within tourism-related businesses (see also ‘business 

development & support’). 

- Key projects - Work in partnership with Exmoor National Park, North Devon Coast AONB, and 

North Devon UNESCO Biosphere Reserve to support projects that manage the 

environmental impact that tourism brings in a positive manner and develop a ‘sustainable 

tourism’ product for northern Devon. 

- Collective initiatives - Support other collective initiatives that aim to develop and support a 

‘sustainable tourism’ offer in northern Devon and to mitigate the impact of tourism upon the 

environment e.g. visitor payback schemes, Plastic Free North Devon initiatives. 

- Communication – Support the promotion of northern Devon’s ‘green tourism’ offer (see also 

‘engaging and connecting with visitors’). 

  

 
Neville Stanikk by courtesy of North Devon Coast AONB 

Page 52



Northern Devon Tourism Strategy     2018 – 2022 

 

 

11 
 

d. Information & knowledge – sharing market information, trends, visitor research 

- National trends – Disseminate relevant market information, key trends and ‘value of 

tourism’ data for the North Devon and Torridge areas to inform business decision-making 

and develop wider understanding of the nature and value of the visitor economy.  

- Consumer research - Deliver/commission local research as appropriate to understand the 

nature and behaviour of visitors to the area, and their experiences of northern Devon to 

inform marketing and communications activity. 

e. Collaboration – bringing the sector together, linking with key partners, joint working 

- Joint working – Work closely with the sector and relevant partners on all aspects of the 

strategy, including forming joint working groups as appropriate, and reporting on progress at 

meetings and sector events.   

- Meetings and events – Arranging and supporting meetings and events which bring the sector 

together and advance the Tourism Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

MEASURING PROGRESS 

Our strategy is focused on working collaboratively to grow the value of the visitor economy in 

northern Devon. Ultimately we will look to indicators such numbers of visitors, amount of tourism-

related expenditure and employment as measures of long-term progress.  

But in the shorter-term, we are more focused on change and helping to make things happen in a 

joined-up way. We will therefore also measure progress in terms of the number of partners engaged 

in strategic tourism activity, the number of new projects and initiatives that have commenced, and 

things that have improved and changed for visitors, businesses, communities, and for the core 

tourism assets upon which the visitor economy depends.   

Where we have lead responsibility for an activity, we will identify a range of relevant indicators to 

measure specific impact and success, and will encourage other lead partners to do likewise. We will 

report progress on an annual basis. 

 

 

Page 53



 

Page 54



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 15 October 2018
	Minutes

	3 Action List
	5 Forward Plan
	9 Litter and Fly tipping Enforcement
	10 Adoption of a Corporate Enforcement Policy
	Corporate Enforcement Policy Final Oct 2018

	11 Annual Parking Review
	12 Northern Devon Tourism Strategy
	Northern Devon Tourism Strategy FINAL

	16 Non-Recoverable Debts

